Università degli Studi di Salerno DIPARTIMENTO DI SCIENZE ECONOMICHE E STATISTICHE

Pietro Coretto ¹ Giuseppe Storti ²

SUBJECTIVE EXPECTATIONS IN ECONOMICS: A STATISTICAL OVERVIEW OF THE MAIN FINDINGS³

WORKING PAPER 3.158 Febbraio 2005

¹Department of Statistical Sciences — University College London (UCL) — Gower Street, London, WC1E 6BT, UK. Tel. (+44)-(0)20 76.79 18.75 - E-mail: pietro@stats.ucl.ac.uk ²Dipartimento di Scienze Economiche e Statistiche — Università di Salerno — Via Ponte Don Melillo; 84084 Fisciano (SA), Italy. Tel: (+39) 089 96.22.12 - E-mail: storti@unisa.it ³Giuseppe Storti wrote the Introduction (section 1) and Conclusions (section 7), Pietro Coretto wrote the all the remaining sections.

Contents

1	Introduction	7
2	The rational expectation hypothesis as a prior specification hypothe-	
	sis	8
3	From the theory to the inference: the example of the consumption	
	model	11
	3.1 Theory	11
	3.2 Inference	14
	3.3 Critiques	18
4	Subjective expectations: what has been done	22
	4.1 The need of subjective expectations data	22
	4.2 Elicitation of subjective expectations	23
	4.3 Psychological issues: four heuristics	24
	4.4 The psychology of summaries elicitations	27
5	Fitting distributions with elicited probabilities	28
	5.1 Parametric fitting	29
	5.2 Looking for non-parametric fitting	32
	5.3 Evaluation of elicited opinions	33
6	Elicitation in econometrics	34
	6.1 Elicitation techniques	34
	6.2 Evaluating elicited expectations	39
7	Conclusions	43

Abstract

In this writing we provide a brief overview on how in different fields such as statistics, econometrics and experimental psychology, the issue of measuring subjective expectations about future uncertain outcomes has been attacked. In many situations realized observed data come from a decision process in which the decision is made by considering future uncertain outcomes, so that the observed data will depend on future outcome via the probabilistic judgement made by the decision maker. For example the decision to buy a car today will depend on our expectations about future incomes, so that observed data about the number of cars sold will depend on peoples' expectations about their future incomes. Expectations are not observable so that we need proper statistical methods of inference to treat these type of problems. Here, we provide a very general overview, and we try to summarize different approaches.

Keywords

Subjective Expectations, Probability Elicitation, Rational Expectations, Prior Specification.

1 Introduction

One of the key assumption in economics theory is the so called "rational expectation hypothesis". In few words, rational expectation hypothesis assumes that peoples' expectations about future events are "consistent" and "efficient"; where consistent means they do not make systematic errors, and efficient means that they use all the available information. Moreover, this assumption implicitly assumes that people are "utility maximizer", this means that people choose their actions maximizing their utility according with some utility representation (e.g. expected utility, max-min expected utility etc.).

From a statistical point of view, this hypothesis is interesting since it represents the theoretical ground for the derivation of a huge number of econometric models. Assuming rational expectations makes the life of Economists easier but on the other hand this force them to make many unrealistic behavioural assumptions, and as a consequence the resulting inference leads to unclear conclusions. Also, it is interesting how econometricians usually avoid to relate the problem of expectations formation to that of prediction, where from my point of view expectations follow prediction.

My plan is to investigate why we need to relax this assumption and how it might be possible to do it without strong restrictions. One of the main proposal in econometrics has been to use survey data on expectations, but there is still a controversy about the consistency of these data with observed behaviour. We think that in order to persuade economists of the importance of eliciting expectations it is very important to test — possibly through exper-

imental sessions — whether peoples' behaviour is consistent with elicited expectations.

Few papers appeared in international economic review use subjective data on expectations elicited via survey questionnaires, but there has been no effort in developing statistical tools to recover expectations. The other issue, that seems very important to me, is to explore the statistical tools we need to elicit people expectations and to understand their learning process and their reaction to new information.

2 The rational expectation hypothesis as a prior specification hypothesis

Econometric models predict choice behaviour from data on observed choices, for many years this has been the standard practice. The theoretical tool underlining this approach is the so called "principle of revealed preferences". It was introduced by Samuelson (1938, 1948) who showed that observed choices combined with the assumptions of classical consumer theory implies restrictions on the consumption bundles that a person would choose when she faces her budget constraints. This idea justified the use of observed choice data to infer the underlying decision process. A more practical form of the principle referred as "revealed stochastic preference model" was developed later by McFadden (1974), who tried to answer to the question whether distributions of choices observed from a random sample of individuals in a variety of choice situations, is consistent with rational choice theory which postulates that individuals maximize preferences. Mc-Fadden (1974) assumed that a researcher observes a random sample of person with heterogenous preferences each one facing a decision problem, then he showed that data combined with assumptions on population distribution of preferences enable to estimate probabilistic choice model and predict choice behaviour¹.

¹McFadden (1974) takes into consideration only discrete choice problems with a finite set of outcomes. A complete description of further generalizations to possibly infinite set of

However this approach fails to be reasonable when the decision maker does not know the outcome of her or his decision; in economic theory this situation is referred as "partial information". For the most part of interesting economics problems, people face partial information, and in practice Economists assume that people have consistent subjective probability distributions on unknown quantities and then they choose maximising their expected utility given their preferences over the unknown outcomes. Again the problem with this approach is that observed data can be consistent with a number of different specification of preferences and subjective probability. In order to get identification Economists assume that decision makers have specific expectations objectively correct, i.e they hold rational expectations. Rational expectations and revealed preferences are what an economist needs to model observed choice data alone.

In order to better understand the consequences of this hypothesis we will introduce some formalism and a simple well known economic models, the so called "permanent income model".

We can describe a general decision problem as follows. Suppose that X is choice set, i.e. a set of possible actions or quantities that an economic agent will choose. For instance X could be all the possible quantities of a goods a person could buy. Ω is the set of all possible state of nature relevant for the decision, $\omega^* \in \Omega$ is the true state of nature. In the example before Ω is the set of all possible value of future income, and ω^* is the true income a decision maker will face. Each agent have an objective real valued function that values her or his decision $u: X \times \Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$. The problem of agent is take an optimal decision x^* such that

$$x^* = \operatorname*{argmax}_{x \in X} u(x, \omega^*). \tag{2.1}$$

If ω^* is unknown then problem (2.1) can be solved if and only if there exists a $x^* \in X$ such that for all $(x, \omega) \in X \times \Omega$, $u(x^*, \omega) \ge u(x, \omega)$. Since this is only a special case, Economists need to make some restrictions in terms of behavioural assumptions. Instead of solving problem (2.1), it is assumed

outcomes and to continues choice problem can be found in McFadden (2004)

that people solve

$$x^* = \operatorname*{argmax}_{x \in X} \int u(x, \omega) dP,$$
(2.2)

where P denotes a subjective probability distribution over Ω . The justification of (2.2) is Savage (1954) axiomatization of subjective expected utility. Since P is subjective then Economist need to restrict the set of all probability distributions over Ω assuming rational expectations, i.e. they assume that decision makers know the objective probability distribution that generates ω^* .

Moreover Economist assume much more than rational expectations. It is also assumed that people use all the available information in order to form rational expectations. If Σ is the set of all available information, it is usually assumed that everyone can access to Σ and thus everyone hold correct probability distribution over ω^* conditional on Σ , in other words the problem that everyone face is to find

$$x^* = \operatorname*{argmax}_{x \in X} \mathsf{E}_P[u(x,\omega)|\Sigma], \tag{2.3}$$

where E_P is the expectation taken with the respect to P. Assuming rational expectation along with the hypothesis of stochastic revealed preferences ensure that choice observed data are sufficient to identify a choice model based on maximising expected utility behaviour.

It is obvious that the hypothesis above is just an assumption which states that a rational agent holds a prior beliefs of the unknown P which is consistent with realized data. That is the same as saying that realized past data provide the economic decision maker with an empirical evidence sufficient to specify a coherent empirical prior on the unknown. This is the reason why we can look at the rational expectation hypothesis as a way of imposing an objective empirical² prior on the unknown. Though this is a subtle aspect, it is important to notice that this much more that imposing a prior distribution for an unknown quantities. In fact, a prior is never required to be the true

²Here by empirical we mean that this prior is derived on the basis of past data.

distribution which moves observables, but in this case it is imposed that P is the true distribution of the unknown so that our rational decision maker will not do any systematic error in predicting future uncertain outcomes.

3 From the theory to the inference: the example of the consumption model

3.1 Theory

Now we want to illustrate how all these concepts are usually embodied in the economics literature, from theory to econometric practices. We are going to present one of the main tool used by economists to analyse and predict future aggregated consumption levels. In the following exposition we will skip many mathematical details because our main object is not to understand techniques; for further details see Lucas and Stockey (1989). In this section we do not discuss the economic contents and the coherence of all those assumptions we are going to make. Many of the following assumptions have no interesting economics content, but we need them in order to achieve mathematical tractability. In the next section, instead, we shall focus on those restrictive assumptions that we need in order to make inference on the model, and we will see how these assumptions are restrictive.

First of all we fix some notation. There is a representative economic agent (a consumer) who live from time $t = 0, 1, \ldots, T$, and in each period he or she faces a budget constraint and has to choose a level of consumption c_t . The time horizon our consumer will face it is assumed to be infinite since she or he incorporates in her or his utility the choice of all the next generations. So that we let $T \rightarrow +\infty$. In each period t the consumer has a level of wealth A_t , and perceive an income y_t . She or he can save and invest money at rate r_t , for simplicity we assume that the rate of interest is known for each t and it is constant³. We also suppose that $A_0 \ge 0$ and $A_{T+1} \ge 0$. The last two assumptions imply that the consumer is not allowed to have debts at the beginning and at the end of his or her life. The

³We could drop this simplifying assumption making the mathematics harder.

consumer can invest his or her wealth at rate r, then in each period t she or he faces the following budget constraint: $A_{t+1} \leq (1+r)(A_t+y_t-c_t)$. Furthermore we assume that there exists a law of motion (or transition equation) for the income y_t , that is, there exists a continuous function $f: \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, which relates future income to present income through a sequence of i.i.d. random variables $\{\epsilon_t\}_{t=0}^{\infty}$ and past values of income and wealth. We express future income as $y_{t+1} = f(y_t, A_t, \epsilon_t)$, with y_0 and ϵ_0 given. The sequence $\{\epsilon_t\}_{t=0}^{\infty}$ is described by a probability distribution function Q, that is $Q(\epsilon|y,a) = \operatorname{Prob}[e_t \leq \epsilon|y_t = y, A_t = A]$. We need also to suppose that f is measurable with the respect of Q and it satisfies the Feller property⁴. It is important to notice that all the variables involved in this model, except for ϵ , are observable at the beginning of each period t, so ϵ_t is not observable at time t. According with the foundations of economic theory, each consumer is utility-maximizer, i.e. her or his preferences are described by a continuous real valued utility function $u(c_t)$, and the consumer wants to maximize her or his utility given the budget constraint. For simplicity we assume that $u(\cdot)$ is time invariant. Also, we assume that $u(\cdot)$ is strictly concave (meaning strictly decreasing marginal utility), bounded, continuous with continuous first derivatives. In synthesis the problem of each agent for each t = 0, 1, ..., T is

$$\max_{\{c_t\}_{t=0}^T} \mathsf{E}_Q\left[\sum_{t=0}^T \frac{1}{(1+\rho)^t} u(c_t) \middle| \Omega_t\right],\tag{C}$$

s.t.
$$A_{t+1} \le (1+r)(A_t + y_t - c_t),$$
 (3.1)

$$A_0, y_0, \epsilon_0 \quad \text{given}, \tag{3.2}$$

$$y_{t+1} = f(y_t, A_t, \epsilon_t); \tag{3.3}$$

where $(1 + \rho)$ is a subjective discount factor for future utility assumed to be constant over time with $\rho \in (0, 1)$, and Ω_t is the information set at time t,

⁴This means that for every bounded and continuous real valued function ψ , E $[\psi(y_{t+1})|y_t = y, A_t = A]$ is bounded and continuous in all its arguments. We need this property in order to guarantee the solution of the functional equation (SC) that we are going to see.

it contains all the past and current values about consumption, income and wealth and past values of shocks ϵ . Notice that it is assumed that ρ and Ω_t are set to be equal across individuals for each t. At the end of this economy there is no market to invest in, so it is optimal that $A_{T+1} = 0$, this imply that, going backward up to time 0, the constraint (3.1) can be taken with equality. The problem above is to find a sequence $\{c_t^*\}_{t=0}^{+\infty}$ such that the program (C) is solved; under these assumptions we could easily prove that such solution exists and it is unique. In order to solve this problem we need some more mathematical tool.

Under our assumptions it is possible to show (see Lucas and Stockey, 1989) that our stationary time invariant dynamic programming problem (C) can be equivalently translated into a biperiodal sequential problem using the following Belman equation

$$V(A_t) = \max_{\{A_{t+1}\}_{t=0}^T} \left\{ u(c_t(A_{t+1})) + \frac{1}{1+\rho} \mathsf{E}_Q \left[V(A_{t+1}) \middle| \Omega_t \right] \right\}, \quad (\mathsf{SC})$$

s.t.
$$A_{t+1} = (1+r)(A_t + y_t - c_t),$$
 (3.4)

$$A_0, y_0, \epsilon_0$$
 given, (3.5)

$$y_{t+1} = f(y_t, A_t, \epsilon_t); \tag{3.6}$$

where $V(\cdot)$ is the value function associated with the program (C). We fixed A_{t+1} as control, A_t as the state, and we got rid of c_t which we can now express as linear function of A_{t+1} . We start programming in time 0, A_0 is given and once the optimal level of A_1 has been chosen, then using equation (3.4) we have c_1^* , so for a general period t. Since the Belmann equation is a contraction, a solution exists and can be calculated using analytic techniques or numerical methods. Note that this is a strictly concave dynamic programming problem, and it can be shown that it has inner solutions. Also the first order condition of the functional equation (SC) are necessary and sufficient for a maximum. Taking the first order conditions for (SC) we have

$$\frac{\partial u(c_t(A_{t+1}))}{\partial c_t} \frac{dc_t(A_{t+1})}{dA_{t+1}} + \frac{1}{1+\rho} \mathsf{E}_Q \left[\frac{\partial V(A_{t+1})}{\partial A_{t+1}} \middle| \Omega_t \right] = 0.$$
(3.7)

Let f'(x) = df(x)/dx, the previous becomes

$$u'(c_t)\left(-\frac{1}{1+r}\right) + \frac{1}{1+\rho}\mathsf{E}_Q\left[V'(A_{t+1})|\Omega_t\right] = 0;$$
(3.8)

where

$$c_t = A_t + y_t - \frac{A_{t+1}}{1+r}.$$

Note that we will write c_t instead of expression above in order to simplify the notation. By envelope theorem⁵ $V'(A_t^*) = u'(c_t^*)$, where the symbol "*" means optimal solution to (SC) and as a consequence a solution to equation (3.8). Also by stationarity $V'(A_{t+1}^*) = u'(c_{t+1}^*)$, and thus we can rewrite (3.7) as

$$\frac{u'(c_t^*)}{\mathsf{E}_Q\left[u'(c_{t+1}^*)|\Omega_t\right]} = \frac{1+r}{1+\rho}.$$
(3.9)

The last equation is the so called "Euler equation", it relates optimal current marginal utility with next period expected marginal utility, interest rate and the intertemporal subjective discount rate. Note that at time t, all the information about the past and the present income, wealth, consumption and realized value of innovations ϵ , is in the set Ω_t^6 , so that $\mathsf{E}_Q[u'(c_t)|\Omega_t] = u'(c_t)$. Given an utility function, equation (3.9) becomes a second order difference equation which, together with conditions (3.2) and (3.3), give us a solution which will represent the law of motion of optimal consumption. The economic contents of equation (3.9) is appealing, but is far from our scope. 3.2 Inference

In this section we shall see how the rational expectations hypothesis is important in order to make inference on the model described above without using subjective data.

In this simplified model an economist relates optimal consumption decisions to income and wealth. The only source of uncertainty is the i.i.d.

⁵See any intermediate or advanced book in mathematical programming.

⁶In this modelling, these innovations are identifiable since in each time a consumer has all the equations he or she needs to compute the past error terms.

sequence of innovations which affect the future income. The dynamic of income affects the budget constraint equation (3.4), and as a consequence, the optimal decision about how much to consume in each period. Note that the dynamic of wealth is not important; in fact given A_0 , once we know how the income determines the optimal consumption level we get A_1 , then the same apply for A_2 and so on, and the whole path of wealth accumulation is recovered. So what really matters for our consumer is the income dynamic. However an econometrician has data about past consumption choices, wealth and income, but he knows anything about the sequence of $\{\epsilon_t\}_{t=0}^T$. How shall he or she procede in studying the relationship between consumption choices and income dynamics? Let us see how an econometrician who believes in the rational expectations hypothesis would tackle the problem.

First of all we need some functional form for the utility function. Given choice data on consumption, the revealed stochastic preference theory will allow an econometrician to restrict the family of admissible utility functions. Without enter the theoretical details, we can use some parametric family of utility functions, so that shape will depend on some vector of parameters. Also, we want some utility function which will provide us with a linear marginal utility. We take a quadratic utility function $u(c_t) = ac_t - (b/2)c_t^2$ with marginal utility $u'(c_t) = a - bc_t$. By the linearity of expectation operator, this family of utility functions allows us to write $\mathsf{E}_Q\left[u'(c_t)|\Omega_t\right] = u'(\mathsf{E}_Q[c_t|\Omega_t])$. Applying the Euler equation (3.9) we have

$$\mathsf{E}_{Q}\left[c_{t+1}^{*}|\Omega_{t}\right] = \frac{a}{b}\frac{r-\rho}{1+r} + \frac{1+\rho}{1+r}c_{t}^{*}; \tag{3.10}$$

this equation describes the law of motion of optimal consumption. Up to this point we still do not have the income and shocks in our equations, and also on the left hand side of (3.10) we have a conditional moment.

At this point an economist would introduce the rational expectation hypothesis: a "rational economic agent"⁷ uses all the available information, he

⁷Here the wording comes from the standard economic literature, but this does not imply that we accept this simple idea of rationality.

perfectly knows the probabilistic structure of the data generating process and he does not make any systematic forecast error. Translating these words in our example this means that: (i) Ω_t is equal for each consumer and contains everything which is useful to predict y_{t+1} ; (ii) our economic agent knows the probabilistic structure of the sequence of innovations $\{\epsilon_t\}_{t=0}^T$, i.e. he knows Q and hence the data generating process of future income; (iii) there is no systematic error in predictions. This last statement is formalized introducing an error term $\eta_{t+1} = c_{t+1}^* - \mathsf{E}_Q \left[c_{t+1}^* | \Omega_t \right]$ with the property that $\mathsf{E} \left[\eta_{t+1} | \Omega_t \right] = 0^8$.

Notice that all the randomness of the model comes from the sequence of innovations ϵ_t through the probability distribution function Q, so the error term η depends on ϵ . Let us introduce a real valued function g which is measurable with respect to Q, in the econometric literature is supposed that $\eta_{t+1} = g(\epsilon_{t+1}) = c_{t+1}^* - \mathsf{E}_Q[c_{t+1}^*|\Omega_t], t = 0, 1, \dots, T$. The term η_t is the forecast error at time t, and it is a function of the random term of the model. By the previous conclusion, the rational expectation hypothesis implies that $E_Q[g(\epsilon_{t+1})|\Omega_t] = 0$ for every $t = 0, 1, \dots, T$.

Introducing this hypothesis allows our econometrician to transform (3.10) into

$$c_{t+1}^* = \frac{a}{b} \frac{r-\rho}{1+r} + \frac{1+\rho}{1+r} c_t^* + \eta_{t+1}.$$
(3.11)

We want to simplify our algebra as much as we can, thus without loss of generality we assume that $r = \rho$, and hence (3.11) becomes a random walk

$$c_{t+1}^* = c_t^* + \eta_{t+1}. \tag{3.12}$$

To link optimal consumption to incomes we now need the budget constraint (3.4). We want to base our analysis to a generic period t, however we wrote the budget constraint equation based on t = 0. Let us rewrite it as $A_{t+s+1} = (1+r)(A_{t+s} + y_{t+s} - c^*_{t+s})$ with $s = 0, 1, \ldots, T$. Also, we want get rid of A_{t+s+1} . From the budget constraint equation, taking expectations

⁸This is not a property that depends on some reason related to the underlaying probability distribution, this equality is indeed assumed to be valid if rational expextations hold.

and substituting recursively A_{t+s+1} into A_{t+s+2} and so on, we have

$$\sum_{s=0}^{T-t} \frac{\mathsf{E}_Q\left[c_{t+s}^*|\Omega_t\right]}{(1+r)^s} = A_t + \sum_{s=0}^{T-t} \frac{\mathsf{E}_Q\left[y_{t+s}|\Omega_t\right]}{(1+r)^s}.$$
(3.13)

Now we substitute (3.12) into the previous and we obtain

$$c_t^* \sum_{s=0}^{T-t} \frac{1}{(1+r)^s} = A_t + \sum_{s=0}^{T-t} \frac{\mathsf{E}_Q\left[y_{t+s}|\Omega_t\right]}{(1+r)^s}.$$
(3.14)

Since an interest rate is contained in the interval $\left(0,1\right)$

$$\sum_{s=0}^{T-t} \frac{1}{(1+r)^s} = \frac{1+r}{r} \left[1 - \frac{1}{(1+r)^{T-t+1}} \right],$$
(3.15)

it follows that (3.14) becomes

$$c_t^* = \frac{r}{1+r} \left[1 - \frac{1}{(1+r)^{T-t+1}} \right]^{-1} \left[A_t + \sum_{s=0}^{T-t} \frac{\mathsf{E}_Q \left[y_{t+s} | \Omega_t \right]}{(1+r)^s} \right].$$
 (3.16)

Since we assumed that $T \longrightarrow +\infty$, (3.16) can be written as

$$c_t^* = \frac{r}{1+r} \left[A_t + \sum_{s=0}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathsf{E}_Q \left[y_{t+s} | \Omega_t \right]}{(1+r)^s} \right].$$
 (3.17)

The last equation says that the actual optimal consumption depends on the actual wealth plus the sum of all the future expected incomes. Setting

$$y_t^p = \left[A_t + \sum_{s=0}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathsf{E}_Q \left[y_{t+s} | \Omega_t \right]}{(1+r)^s} \right].$$
 (3.18)

we have what in economics is called "permanent income" (for details see Friedman, 1957; Hall, 1978). According with this model a consumer bases his or her decisions about consumption on expected level of future incomes

and the actual wealth.

To test this model, or to use this model to predict aggregated consumption levels there is still a problem: the econometrician does not dispose of data about expected incomes. The inferential problem of the econometrician will face is the same of the one faced by the consumer, he has to infer the data generating process of incomes. Again, by the rational expectation hypothesis, the solution is that the econometrician has in mind the same data generating process that a representative "rational" agent will have, i.e. econometrician and agents both have the same empirical and objective prior about the stochastic structure that generates incomes. He or she will substitute this model of future income in (3.17) computing all the conditional moments. For example an econometrician could suppose that $y_t \sim AR(1)$ with innovations ϵ_t . With $y_{t+s} = \phi y_{t+s-1} + \epsilon_{t+s}$ we have $E_Q(y_{t+s}|\Omega_t) = \phi^s y_t$, thus (3.17) becomes

$$c_t^* = \frac{r}{1+r}A_t + \frac{r}{1+r-\phi}y_t.$$
(3.19)

Having data on consumption level chosen and actual income, now the econometrician can estimate and make inference on the model. For instance a model very similar to the one we presented can be find in Campbell and Deaton (1989). The authors estimated the model of the labour income dynamics for the United Stated and they found that it followed an AR(2) process

$$y_t = \mu + (1 + \psi)y_{t-1} - \psi y_{t-2} + \epsilon_t,$$

with $\psi > 0$. But this led to a famous inconsistency known as the "excess smoothness paradox". Using the AR(2) process with $\psi > 0$ they showed that the the theoretical model for the consumption predicts that the variability of $\Delta c_t^* = c_{t+1}^* - c_t^*$ is greater than the variability of $\Delta y_t = y_{t+1} - y_t$, however the empirical evidence suggests the opposite.

3.3 Critiques

In the previous section we have illustrated a basic model of consumer behaviour. This model with its simplicity is not far from what economist usually do in practice. We could drop some simplifications (e.g. we could

suppose that the interest rate is not constant over time and that it is different from the subjective discount factor, also we could introduce some more sophisticated utility function, and so on), however these simplifications would not change the main result of the analysis above, the only thing it will change is in a complication of the mathematics. Hence the critiques we shall argue thereafter are not narrowed by these simplifications. It is important to make clear that the kind of arguments we are going to make are general and they do not depend on the peculiar simplifications made in order to simplify the algebra.

We can see the "rationality" assumption as composed by three components: preference-maximizing behaviour, efficient use of information, and perfect ability in recovering data generating processes. We are going to discuss each of them separately.

Preference-maximizing behaviour. The first thing we want to point out is that the general idea of preference-maximizing behaviour, even if it is compelling on the theoretical ground, it is hard to apply in the empirical practice. The decision depend on the subjective utility function together with the subjective idea of the process that generates the data, but we can never identify these two contributes separately. In other words, the decision about the sequence $\{c_t^*\}_{t=0}^T$ comes from a maximization program based on a utility function u and the probability distribution Q about future income levels, now the problem is that the consumption profile we observe form the data could be compatible with different combinations of u and Q. The big issue with this kind of modelling is the lack of observability of hypothetical⁹ outcomes, without these, it is truly hard to think about the contemporaneous identification of both u and Q based on past data on c and y.

This argument is more general than the one we want discuss on in this work. It is related with old debate about economics modelling and the related "structural estimation". The idea of the supporter of this view is that we

⁹Notice that econometricians use to refer to "counterfactuals" in many distinct situations, rather than distinguishing between hypothetical knowledge and counterfactual reasoning.

cannot estimate a model based on data without having a "rational theory"¹⁰ about the structure of the economics. Even if we agree that in order to estimate an equation we need some theoretical background which justify it, the position of this "structuralist party" is hard to understand when one tries to introduce some view of rationality. Rationality is a strong and hard concept, and we believe that economists sometimes abuse of it.

Efficient use of information. The other critiques we want to make is about the concept of efficiency. Economists usually assume that people use information efficiently meaning that they condition on all those variables that are needed to predict the desired one. In our example this means that Ω_t contains all those information we need in order to condition our expectation about y and therefor predict optimally next periods' income. This hypothesis is a bit vague, what the structure of Ω_t is? Not only, but also the notion of rationality that economists usually introduce implies that Ω_t is equal for all individuals. In their view if one is rational then he or she knows what the relevant variables needed to predict future income levels. In the previous example we solved the problem assuming that y_t followed an AR(1) process, so this means that in each period a consumer conditioned on past income realization in order to predict next period income.

Following this argument, every econometrician who would test the model above, he should construct the model conditioning on the same information set as an economic agent will do. In fact, an econometrician who has to make empirical analysis starting from data, faces the same inferential problems as the decision maker: he has to make induction from a finite sample. Now if this was the case, every econometrician testing the same model should estimate the same equation using the same variables, but if look at the empirical literature about consumer theory this clearly not the case.

Perfect ability in recovering data generating processes. The assumption that agents are able to infer the true data generating process is too demanding. In the example of consumer theory we saw that an econometrician who bases her or his analysis on choice data alone needs to as-

¹⁰Again, we would stress that the wording comes from the standard economic literature.

²⁰

sume that people, by rational expectations hypothesis, have in mind the true probability distribution Q of future income levels. Remaining in the example of consumer theory, empirical economists always disagree on the "true generating process" of income, so that it appears hopelessly optimistic to suppose that expectations are rational, even approximately.

The main problem is that the resulting inference is indeterminate. For instance in Campbell and Deaton (1989) they found that the model presented¹¹ leads to some anomalous result (e.g. the excess smoothness paradox), now what would the conclusion be? Is the preference-maximizing behaviour wrong? Is the the supposed data generating process for income misleading? Is the peculiar family of utility functions not representative of consumer behaviour? The answers is that we cannot make conclusions, since the number of restricting assumptions we are making is huge, and the effect of this assumptions can be strong.

Even though each of these three components leads to strong restrictions on the economic behaviour, the first one is not intimately connected with the rational expectation hypothesis as the followings. In particular, in our view, the idea that people maximize their expected utility is not realistic, and in fact there exists an huge experimental literature which shows that the expected utility representation of preferences over uncertain outcomes is usually violated. But we do not want to tackle this issue here. The first component, as long as poses strong and controversial restrictions, is much more related to the general decision theory and marginally affects the statistical practice. In this work we shall try to answer to the question whether is possible to drop the rational expectations assumption in order to get less restricted econometric models, and so our research shall focus on those statistical instruments convenient to drop those assumptions related to the second and the third component. As we will see, we think that these issues ar strongly related to peoples' predictive abilities and we will try to find answers to our question starting to think about the predictive tasks one is required to complete when she or he has to think about expectations.

¹¹They tested a model with a slightly different setup.

²¹

4 Subjective expectations: what has been done

4.1 The need of subjective expectations data

On the theoretical ground economics modelling is always about choices under uncertainty, so that the empirical testing will always deal with estimating equations in which some expectation will appear. We took the example of the consumption model, as our leading example for our analysis, however we want to stress that this problematic is more general.

Choice data are insufficient to estimate models involving expected variables, the only way to fully identify these models is to introduce strong and unrealistic assumptions as we have seen so far, what we want to conclude is that we should try to make any effort in order to combine choice data with data on expectations. For instance, if in the consumption model we could dispose of data about consumers' expectations on future income levels, a structural model about income dynamics and the hypothesis that people have in mind the same model of the economy we have, it would be unneeded; and also we did not need to make the assumption that peoples use information efficiently. All this "restriction saving" would improve the coherence of our modelling, making our inference less indeterminate.

These needs has emerged during the past few years, and few papers on the topic appeared in international economic reviews, this means that the idea of using subjective data, i.e. self-reported data about expectations of future events, still rises doubts amongst economists. They have been skeptical about subjective statements, and usually, they justify their skepticism arguing that "one should believe what people do, not what they say". This is a standard objection which an economist would make. The fact that people could be not able to fully report probability statements is widely investigated in experimental psychology and other related disciplines, however from what we will see later on this is not the case. A good overview history of the debate about the use of subjective data can be found in Dominitz and Manski (1997), and Manski (2004).

However, we think that not many efforts have been done in economet-

rics in developing the tools needed to elicit expectations, and moreover the actual econometric literature does not pose the issue of expectations in the wider contest of the theory of prediction. We think that the two thinks are intimately related.

With this work we have a plan: we want to assess whether the selfreported probability statements about future scenarios are consistent with observed choices and in this case "what people have in mind should really matter", we want to find optimal tools in order to elicit expectations, also we want to develop a set of statistical tools to predict future behaviour based on both choice data and data about expectations, understanding how people react to new information acquisition.

4.2 Elicitation of subjective expectations

Suppose we want to estimate an equation in which we have, amongst the regressors, next period expected prices' growth, i.e. expected inflation rate about next period. Without making unrealistic assumptions, we need data on expectations. If π_t is the inflation rate that we observe at time t, Ω_t is the information set at time t containing past and current data about inflation, our problem is to collect data on $\mathbb{E}[\pi_{t+1}|\Omega_t] = \pi_t^e$. We could collect these data about π_t^e in two different ways: (i) at time t we can ask to people to attach probabilities about π_{t+1} and try to recover the probability distribution of $\pi_{t+1}|\Omega_t$ people have in mind, and then we can take the expectation of this π_t^e ; (ii) more simply, if $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ are subjects interviewed, we could ask to people what is their $\pi_{i,t}^e$, where $\pi_{i,t}^e$ is the expectation reported by individual i at time t about inflation in time t + 1. Each one of the two approaches has advantages and limitations, in this section we will examine what is the state of the art of the literature about expectations' elicitation. It is important to notice that the problem we are analyzing touches a number

It is important to notice that the problem we are analyzing touches a number of grounds. It is strongly related with the psychology involved in the elicitation process, from the statistical point of view it involves a number of issues: the theory of prediction, how to treat this kind of data, how to evaluate the accuracy the expectations recovered, how to predict peoples' reaction to new information, etc.

4.3 Psychological issues: four heuristics

An elicitation methods is the statistical translation of people believes about future events, so that we cannot set up a proper method apart from the psychological research about men's abilities to make probabilistic judgements¹².

Psychological research has been concerned with the problem of how a person quantify the probability of an event, or how he or her judges which event is the more likely to occur. We want to stress that whenever we use the word "probability", we have to be very careful. Probability is a sort of primitive concept in our culture but the content of this concept could be different among individuals, so that when someone ask to us "what is, in your opinion the probability that X occurs?" It's very hard to attach a sort of standard meaning to that answer. One of the direction of psychological research has been devoted to address the question whether people attach to the word probability some common significance.

From experimental psychology literature, it appears that intuitive judgements about probability are based on a limited number of mental operations. The wording used by psychologists to describe this operations is "heuristics". These heuristics are quite effective, but they also lead to errors and systematic bias. We will briefly review some of the most important findings about these .

Heuristic 1: judgement by representativeness.

Suppose we ask what is the probability that an object X belongs to a category Y? Or, what is the probability that Y follows X? The answer requires to evaluate Prob (X|Y) to be assessed, people typically compare the main features of X and Y and assign a probability depending on the degree of similarity between them. A common error made with this kind of judgement is that little or no attention is paid to the unconditional probability of

¹²The most part of this section is inspired to the presentation "Judgement and Forecasting" held by Prof. Nigel Harvey in the seminar series on prediction organized by the Department of Statistical Sciences at University College London (UK)

²⁴

Y. A complete description of this is given in Kahneman and Tversky (1973). Similar results have been obtained by Hammerton (1975) and Nisbett et al. (1976).

Heuristic 2: judgement by anchoring and adjustment.

A person estimates an unknown quantity by starting from some initial value and then adjusting it up to obtain a final estimate. The starting value is usually called "the anchor". One finding by Slovic (1972) is that is that regardless of the source of the starting value, the adjustment is usually too small, this phenomenon is called anchoring. Kahneman and Tversky (1973) run an experiment in which individuals were asked to estimate various quantities, stated in percentages, they were given randomly chosen starting values and first they were asked whether the value they had been given was too high or too low, and then to adjust it until they reached their best estimate. Subjects whose starting values were high ended up with substantially higher estimates than those who started with low values. In this case the Bayes theorem is violated. When subjects use the heuristic judgement-byrepresentativeness to quantify probabilities, they tend to ignore their priors. Also other experiments have shown that if subjects are made aware of a prior probabilities and are asked to modify these as new data are available, then the assessed posterior probabilities are too close to the prior probabilities, compared with the revision indicated by Bayes theorem. This effect is referred as conservatism (see Edwards and Phillips, 1964). Several experiments have been made to verify the violation of the Bayes theorem changing the structure of the experiment, but it seems that conservatism is a recurrent effect.

Tversky and Kahneman (1971) demonstrated that, in many circumstances, people expect a sample from a population to represent all the essential characteristics of that population, even if the sample is small. They refer to this phenomena as the "law of small numbers", since it seems that people believe that the law of large numbers applies to small numbers as well. The error is readily attributable to belief in the law of small numbers; people expect all samples to have virtually identical characteristics so that they do not updated their estimated probability.

Heuristic 3: judgement by availability.

A person estimates the frequency or the probability of an event by the ease with which examples come to his or her mind. A classic example: suppose you are asked whether a randomly chosen word from an English text is more likely to start with an "r", or have an "r" as its third letter. In this case it is easier to recall words by their starting letter (e.g. r-ubber, r-ank, r-ed, etc.) than by their third letter (e.g. pa-r-ty, wi-r-e, etc.). In a number of experiment, most people judge that "r" is more likely to be the first letter of a word rather than the third one. If we take an English dictionary and we calculate the frequencies of "r" being the first and the third letter of word we discover that it is more likely to have an "r" as a third letter as found in Kahneman and Tversky (1973). Furthermore familiarity and newsworthy events also impact disproportionately on our memory, so we might overestimate the probability of a plane crash with fatalities, for example, particularly if such a crash has happened recently (see Kahneman and Tversky, 1973).

Heuristic 4: hindsight bias.

Knowledge of what has occurred tends to distort memory and people tend to exaggerate their a priori probability for an event that has occurred. Fischhoff and Beyth (1975) conducted an experiment during President Nixon's visit to China and the USSR in 1972, subjects were asked to assess the probabilities of various possible outcomes of his visit, such as "President Nixon will meet Mao at least once?" "The USA and the USSR will agree to a joint space program?". After the visit the subjects were asked to recall the probabilities they had given before Nixon's visit, than they were asked which events they thought had actually occurred. The result of the experiment was that: (i) subjects generally overestimated their a priori probabilities for the events they thought had occurred (ii) they underestimated the priori probabilities for the events they thought had not occurred.

Here we have described only some of the heuristics well known in the psychologic literature, at least we cited those related with the main issues we aim to analyze in this work. An extensive review of the findings can be found in Hogarth (1987).

4.4 The psychology of summaries elicitations

In this section we want to give a brief overview of the main findings about peoples' ability to elicit summary statistics. In general elicitation of summary statistics from multivariate distribution is more complicated if compared with the univariate case. In our work we will not need to elicit expectations about multiple variables so that this brief review is confined to the univariate case. For a complete review about this topic see Garthwaite et al. (2004).

The literature on this topic is vaste and it comes from the 60's to 80's. Here we are interested to evaluate abilities to summarize statistical quantities like mean, median, variance, quartiles, etc. In general it results that people are quite good in interpreting data giving good approximations of the statistical summaries.

Several studies have examined the ability to recover sample proportions. For instance Shuford (1961) proposed a 20×20 matrix to a number of individuals one at time. Each element of the matrix was a blue square or a red square. A subgroup of individuals was shown the matrix for one second, to another subgroup the matrix was shown for ten seconds. After the matrix was shown, an individual was asked the proportion of blue and red squares. The result of the experiment was that the mean of subjects' estimate differed from the sample proportion by .05 People seem to be fairly able to estimate proportions.

Similar experiments have been conducted to analyze individuals' abilities to estimate measure of central tendency. Typically they are quit good in identifying the mean and median. However, in an experiment by Peterson and Miller (1964) it resulted that as well as a the distribution of sample is highly skewed, while the estimated mode and median resulted to be reasonably accurate, the estimated mean was biased.

While people seem to be able to estimate the central tendency of the sample they are exposed to, it results that the estimation of the variability is critical. In a number of experiments people appeared to be in troubles

when exposed to the concept of variability. Experiments conducted to test the ability to estimate the variance of a sample have not given good results. Experimental psychologists showed that people are more confident with statements about credible intervals. In many experiments an an individual is shown a sample X divided into a partition of subsets X_1, \ldots, X_n , then he or she is asked what is the probability of an element of X falling in some subset X_i . It seems that peoples have fairly good ability to elicit credible intervals, this technique together with some distributional assumption have been employed to construct estimates of the variance perceived by people. Using this procedure it seems that also the task of measuring variability in a sample is done with reasonable errors, but the direct estimate of variance is highly biased.

An important research aimed to assess the ability to convert phrases for example "quite probable", "very likely" — into numeric values, and valuing wether verbal expressions of probability have to be preferred to numerical expressions or vice-versa. Wallsten et al. (1986) showed that people are more comfortable to express their uncertainty in verbal expressions rather than providing numerical measures. Unfortunately is not easy to convert verbal expression in numbers as long as different subjects attach to verbal expression different meanings.

5 Fitting distributions with elicited probabilities

As we pointed out before the problem of eliciting distributions of unknown quantities is not new. In bayesian analysis the problem of prior selection led to an huge research on methods for prior elicitation based on experts' questionnaires. There are researcher who believe that rather than developing mechanical mathematical methods to specify a prior for a given unknown quantities of interest, the choice of the prior should be based on the real prior knowledge of experts. In this view a number of methods have been proposed in order to elicit this knowledge.

There are to ways of eliciting a probability distribution for a given unknown quantity: (i) we can suppose that the unknown distribution belongs to some family, and then we can elicit the prior knowledge on this quantity trying to elicit believes on the parameter that fully identify the unknown distribution; in this case we are doing a parametric fitting; (ii) we can suppose that the unknown distribution belongs to some wide class of distribution functions and then we find methods to identify the one that is the more coherent with experts prior knowledge; in this case we talk about non-parametric elicitation methods.

Notice that in this section we will talk about findings emerged form the statistical literature. There has been not so much work in this area in econometrics, and the few methods of fitting we know have no bayesian setting, for this reason we believe that it will be better to describe the findings in the two literatures separately.

5.1 Parametric fitting

Suppose we are interested in an unknown quantity X, suppose we are interested to recover the probability distribution over X that a number of peoples have in mind. We can interview these respondents trying to extract information useful to recover such a probability distribution, given that we are imposing that one exists. We can impose that prior knowledge of interviewed about X can be described by a distribution $f_X(x; \theta)$ belonging to some family \mathcal{F}_{θ} which members are distinguished by the hyperparameters θ , and then the elicitation task it is reduced to choosing appropriate values for θ in order to capture the main features of respondents' opinion.

Notice that in this framework we have that the researcher expresses her or his own prior knowledge on the unknown quantity of interest. This is the same as saying that this approach involves a two stages elicitation process: in the first stage the researcher believes that the probability distribution of X belongs to some family \mathcal{F}_{θ} , so he or she chooses $f_X(x;\theta)$ to describe X, in the second stage the researcher sets up a method to elicit θ based on prior knowledge of a number of people participating to a questionnaire. The subjective knowledge of the researcher is fundamental. Very often, rather

than following some logical argument, he family \mathcal{F}_{θ} is typically chosen considering the mathematical tractability of the problem. Although, advances in bayesian computation through MCMC methods make it viable to specify more complex families.

In this framework two elicitation tasks have been explored in the statistical literature: elicitation of priors for Bernoulli process and coefficients of linear regression models.

Suppose we are interested in eliciting a prior distribution on the parameter θ (proportion or probability) of a Bernoulli process. We will explore some elicitation scheme proposed.

One method is the so called "probability density function" method by Winkler (1967). The researcher asks to state the most likely value of θ , and to assesses other points of the p.d.f. for θ . Then a respondent is asked to give other two points half as likely as previous one, and then he or she is asked to specify quantiles for θ defined as points that divide the area under the graph of the p.d.f. in specified proportions. Then the distribution of θ is estimated. Notice that this method assumes that respondents know what is a quantile and a p.d.f and it can be only considered in these cases. A related method is the "quantile method" explored by Winkler (1972). In this method is simply asked to specify median estimate of θ and to give one or more quantiles for it. It is usually assumed that the respondents' opinion can be represented by a beta distribution (conjugate distribution for Bernoulli sampling scheme), and then a beta distribution is specified matching parameters with elicited quantiles. In this method researcher's prior knowledge is that peoples' believes are partially homogenous. For partially homogenous we mean that, although the researcher lets peoples to vary their prior opinion about the parameter of the beta distribution which is supposed to represent uncertainty about θ , on the other hand the researcher is fixing the family of possible distribution for θ to be a unique distribution, the beta distribution.

On a different philosophy the "hypothetical future sample" tries to recover the distribution of θ letting the sample to vary. Following Winkler (1967), suppose that θ is the proportion of students at the University of

Chicago who are male, the researcher asks questions of the form: "Suppose a random sample of N students in the Chicago University campus were taken and \bar{n} of them were male, what do you think is the probability that one additional student, chosen at random, is male?". For each respondent a number of different hypothetical sample are proposed varying \bar{n} each time. Each hypothetical sample yields an estimate of the hyperparameters and some form of averaging is used to summarize them. Again the researcher assumes that respondents underlying distribution for θ is a beta distribution, so that respondents opinions are used to estimate the parameters of the prior beta distribution. This method has the advantage to check for consistency in the answers because a number of questions are asked to the same subject. A similar method is the "equivalent prior sample" method by Winkler (1967), in which the respondent is asked to describe the sample rather than the parameters of interests. The example in Winkler (1967) will clarify the procedure, the researcher asks: "Can you determine two numbers \bar{n} and N such that your knowledge would be roughly equivalent to having observed exactly \bar{n} males in a random sample of N University of Chicago students?" The researcher, as before, asks different questions letting \bar{n} and N vary, and then assuming the prior distribution is a beta distribution the parameters of the prior are estimated with some averaging method.

The general critique to these methods is that they leads to insufficient revision of opinions, and they produce prior distributions that exhibit too small variances. The reasons why these methods produce unrealistically tight priors has been extensively explored, and one explanation is the bias produced by conservatism. Winkler (1967) found that the quantile method tends to yield distributions that are slightly less tight than the probability density method and much less tight than the hypothetical future sample and equivalent prior sample methods. Compared on an experimental basis, evaluating elicitation with scoring rules, seems that the quantile method is preferable (for an extensive review of these results see Holstein (1971) and Schaefer and k. Borcherding (1973)).

The other context of elicitation of prior is the classic multiple linear regression model with normal errors. Suppose the model of interest is $y_i =$

 $\mathbf{x}_i'eta+\epsilon_i$ where y_i is the response, $\mathbf{x}_i\in\mathbb{R}^k$ is a vector of observable, and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}^k$ is the unknown vector of coefficients to be estimated, and $\epsilon_i \sim \text{Normal}(0, \sigma^2)$ where σ^2 is unknown. Our problem is to make inference on β so a prior for it has to be elicited. Usually a conjugate prior distribution species that $\sigma^2 = \alpha \gamma (1/c)$ where $c \sim \chi_{\gamma}$ and that $\beta | \alpha, \gamma \sim$ Normal $(b, \alpha \gamma R/c)$ where b is k-dimensional vector representing prior knowledge on the mean of β , and R is $k \times k$ -dimensional matrix that, together with α and γ , expresses prior knowledge on the variance-covariancematrix of β . The researcher have to elicit b, α, γ, R . Starting from Zellner (1972) a number of researches (Kadane et al. (1980), Garthwaite and Dickey (1991) Oman (1985), amongst the others) have analysed this issue. Here the problem is to specify the joint distribution for the k coefficients of interest. It is a quite complicated task and the respondent have to be selected among people with a deep knowledge of multiple liner regression. Even if, in the psychological experiments we have seen previously, people are quite good in recognizing intercepts and slope of a straight lines, here the problem is much more complicated since we require that people can recognize multiple coefficients and their dependency expressed through the variance covariance matrix. The cited papers are only the most important pieces of research on this topic, many other papers investigated the possibility to elicit prior for such a complicated multidimensional hyperparameters, we are not going to describe these methods. The general critique to them is that this methods use assessment tasks that people are not very good at performing, the main problem seems to be the elicitation of the variance-covariance matrix.

5.2 Looking for non-parametric fitting

As we pointed out in the previous section the procedures based on the elicitation of summaries used to fit a parametric distribution are sensible to the choice of the priors family, where this choice only reflects the opinion of the researcher. This in part contradicts the aim of the elicitation process which should try to embodies as much as possible different opinions on the same quantity of interest.

The revived interest in elicitation in the bayesian community in the last five or six years, has led to a few number of nonparametric approaches.

In Oakley and O'Hagan (2002) the respondents' opinions about the random variable of interest X are supposed to be represented by a probability density function $f_X(x)$. The researcher does not have any knowledge of fbut he or se has a prior distribution over possible f. Since f is a function, the researcher prior is a distribution over the space of possible values of the whole function. Then, through some procedure that uses respondents opinions, as usual, a particular f is chosen as prior. Unfortunately to make the problem tractable, Oakley and O'Hagan (2002) have to restrict the possible shapes of f letting it to belong to some wide class of probability density functions. Here we do not want to discuss the method in details. Even if the method is supposed to be non parametric, it is not fully non parametric since a sensible restriction have to be made to identify f. On the other hand this methods has the advantage that not a particular family of priors is chosen by the researcher as starting point, rather, the researcher focus on a wider class of distribution functions.

5.3 Evaluation of elicited opinions

Statisticians are aware of the many difficulties of elicitation and after an elicitation process is completed we ask ourself how we can assess whether the elicited distribution is an adequate representation of the respondents knowledge. Before to continue we want to make clear that the way in which econometricians look to the evaluation step is different to that used by statisticians. For this reason we will describe their approaches separately. The problem is that economists think that peoples' mind obeys to some idea of rationality theoretically formalized so that peoples behaviour in forming beliefs about uncertain quantities can be submitted to a judgement that will classify believes in "rational" and "non-rational". We will discuss this issue in more detail at the end of the next section. Usually statisticians or experimental psychologists ask themselves wether a given elicited opinion is coherent in some specified sense.

The starting point is that we are not interested to classify opinions on uncertain quantities as correct or wrong, we only want to verify that respondents gave us their true opinion. Statisticians use to refer to a concept

of coherence called "internal consistency". They argued that a system of probability statements is coherent if the probabilities are all consistent with the laws of probability. One way to check the quality of a statements is to ask for sets of probability assessments that allow tests of coherence, for instance propose an experiment with two mutually exclusive events X, Y, ask for Prob $\{X\}$, Prob $\{Y\}$ and Prob $\{XorY\}$, a statement will be internally consistent if Prob $\{XorY\} = \text{Prob} \{X\} + \text{Prob} \{Y\}$. This is a trivial example, but it can give an idea of what is meant for internal consistency. In more complicated real elicitation procedures is not so easy to design a mechanism to verify internal coherence, nice examples of checking for internal consistency can be found in Lindley et al. (1979).

It is worth to mention that in many of this studies reported opinions are evaluated via scores methods. The researcher sets a score methods that give high points to probabilistic statements that fully reflect personal uncertainty. Rather than being an evaluation methods, the main goal of scoring rules is to induce people to fully state their knowledge, in some sense these methods can be seen as incentives mechanisms.

6 Elicitation in econometrics

6.1 Elicitation techniques

As we pointed out before, not very much work on elicitation has been done in econometrics. Before to continue in discussing some of the main findings, we want to stress the differences between the econometrics approach to elicitation, and the general statistical approach.

Although in the past few years there is a renewed interest in elicitation among statisticians, this literature started many years ago. Garthwaite et al. (2004) contains a general review of the most important findings, in this review the central problem is that of eliciting distributions of priors to solve problems of prior specifications or prior selections. Here the issue that we want address is quite different: we want to elicit the uncertainty about a future quantity summarized by subjective probabilities, so the task we are requiring to survey respondents is not only to assign a probability over uncertain quantities, but we are also requiring to make a prediction. In this sense, as stated before, our work somehow touches to distinct task: probabilistic judgement and forecasting. In a nutshell, this is the main difference between the kind of problems analysed in the statistical literature about elicitation (see Garthwaite et al., 2004), and the kind of problems we want to analyse in this work.

While statisticians focused on techniques for elicitation, econometrician have not done so much work in this direction. The most part of the actual relevant econometric literature have important qualitative conclusions, however there not tremendous innovative works addressing the issue of how to do elicitation. Manski (2004) contains a broad review of the findings where the economic implications are discussed. Survey responses to questions about expectation on future events have been employed to study a number of interesting economic phenomena, we will see some of them.

Domintz and Manski (1997) analyzed perception of job insecurity using data from the SEE. SEE stands for "Survey of Economic Expectations", it is a survey designed by Jeff Domintz and Charles F. Manski and administered as a module in WISCON, a continuous national random-digit telephone survey conducted by the University of Wisconsin Survey Center. In the SEE people are asked about a number of future events and are required to formulate probabilistic statement. Here we report questions asked about the job insecurity (See the SEE Code Book, pag. 4–5)¹³:

Code RV451 – JOB LOSS: "I would like you to think about your employment prospects over the next 12 months. What do you think is the PERCENT CHANCE that you will lose your job during the next 12 months?"

Code RV452 – FIND AS GOOD A JOB: "If you were to lose your job during the next 12 months... What do you think is the PERCENT CHANCE (or CHANCES OUT OF 100) that the job you eventually find and accept would be at least as good as your current job, in terms of wages and benefits?"

¹³An introduction to SEE with codebook and data can be downloaded from http://www.faculty.econ.northwestern.edu/faculty/manski/

Code RV453 – leave job voluntarily (All waves): "What do you think is the PERCENT CHANCE that you will leave your job voluntarily during the next 12 months?"

Each respondent currently looking for work was asked to provide a sequence of points on her or his subjective cumulative distribution function (CDF) of beliefs about the time to find a job. Respondent *i* was asked about three thresholds $FLm1_i$, $FLm2_i$, $FLm3_i$, posed in an increasing order. The questions were as follows: Code RV455 – DISTRIBUTION FOR TIME TO FIND JOB: "What is the PERCENT CHANCE (or what are the chances out of 100) that it will take you less than [FLm] to find a job that you will accept?"

Domintz and Manski (1997) found some interesting results, for example they found that subjective probability of job loss decreases with the level of education. Rather than summarizing results we want to underline that this study showed that people are willing to answer to question in probabilistic form.

An important contribution was made by Dominitz and Manski (1997), where they analysed household income expectations. This research is mostly related with the example of consumption theory we gave before. The data used by Dominitz and Manski (1997) were taken from SEE. Questions were asked by the telephone, points on the cumulative distribution function (CDF) were elicited starting with some warming-up preliminary training session. Respondents were first asked to report the lowest and highest levels of income that they think possible in the year ahead. The responses to these preliminary questions were used to set thresholds for a series of four probabilistic questions. Here we report from SEE code book (pag. 5):

Respondent *i* was asked about four thresholds – $RVFL2_i$, $RVFL3_i$, $RVFL4_i$, and $RVFL5_i$ – posed in increasing order. Again, the only exception occurred if a response of 100% chance was given when one of the thresholds is posed as a coherent subjective distribution must give 100% chance to all subsequent thresholds. The questions were as follows:

Code RV460-RV468 — DISTRIBUTION OF FUTURE INCOME, BE-FORE TAXES: "What do you think is the PERCENT CHANCE (or CHANCES OUT OF 100) that your OWN total income, BEFORE TAXES, will be under \$[fill RVFL],000?"

The thresholds about which a respondent was queried were determined by the respondents answer to a pair of preliminary questions asking for the lowest and highest possible incomes...

In order to see how thresholds were set see the CEE code book, it is a quite long procedure, here we skip details. In this report for each respondent i, $F_{i,k} = \operatorname{Prob}\left[y < Y_{i,k}\right]$, k = 1, 2, 3, 4 are observed, where $\{Y_{i,1}, Y_{i,2}, Y_{i,3}, Y_{i,4}\}$ are the income thresholds about which respondent i is queried. To identify the distribution F, authors assumed that F belongs to the log-normal family. Let F(Y; M, Q) be log-normal distribution with median M and interquartile range Q. Let M_i^*, Q_i^* such that they solve the least square problem

$$\inf_{M_i,Q_i} \sum_{k=1}^{4} \left[F_{i,k} - F(Y_{i,k}; M, Q) \right]^2,$$

then M_i^*, Q_i^* are used to estimate respondents' *i* subjective median and interquartile range and a log-normal distribution is fitted. The authors found that Q tends to rise with M more than proportionally and that Q exhibits significant cross-sectional variations. This would contradict the rational expectations hypothesis. Although Dominitz and Manski (1997) introduce a quite innovative technique to elicit expectations for continuous variable, we think that this approach is not fully satisfying since a restrictive assumption on the class of probability distributions for the expected income is made and this hypothesis is not testable at all.

Evidence of heterogeneity of expectations have also been confirmed by Domintz and Manski (2003, 2004). The authors used data from SEE to study expectations about returns on mutual-fund investments.

Subjective income and inflation expectations data have been used by Jappelli and Pistaferri (2000) to test, amongst other things, for excess sensitivity of consumption. They used data from 1989–1993 rotating panel of the Bank of Italy Survey of Household Income and Wealth (SHIW). The panel offers unique measures of subjective income and inflation expectations. They found that consumption growth is positively correlated with the

expected variance of income and uncorrelated with predicted income growth and this is a result which supports the "precautionary saving model", in fact this model predicts that people saving depends on the perceived future risk.

Dominitz (2001) considers the use of expectations and realizations data to estimate income expectations conditional on observed attributes. In this work income expectations data and realizations data are used to model expectations. The data used are taken from the Panel Study of Income Dynamics.

An interesting work on expected inflation formation is Mehra (2002)¹⁴. He considers three survey measures of inflation expectations: the Livingston Survey of Economists (LSE) in which respondents are selected amongst academic economists; the Michigan Survey of U.S. households (MSH) in which respondents are households without any particular specialization; and the Survey of Professional Forecasters (SPF) in which respondents are selected amongst professional economists and analysts. In this work a näive forecast has been considered as a benchmark, which is simply the most recent one-year growth rate of consumer price index (CPI) known to the survey respondents at the time forecasts are made.

The first result is that all survey measures of expectations are nearer the realized data than those produced by the näive predictive rule. While both the LSE and MSH forecasts perform equally over the full period and the period of rising inflation, the MSH forecasts present the largest mean-deviation from actual data over a period of downward-trending inflation. This later result reverses if we consider median-deviations.

Also a Granger-causality tests have been made, and the result is that survey forecasts contain a forward-looking component and can help in predicting actual future inflation, this does not apply to the exceptions of LSE.

Another finding is that forecast errors are correlated with past information, this would contradict the main "axiom" of rational expectation theory which states the people do not make systematic forecast errors.

In this paper also it is interesting that data on expectations collected — on different individuals with different backgrounds knowledge — exhibit some

¹⁴Here the approach employed is very similar to that of Thomas (1999).

³⁸

pattern in the deviation of expectations form actual data, and that meandeviations and median-deviations present significant cross-sectional and longitudinal variations.

Also it is interesting to notice that expectations of respondents in MSH — i.e. household with no particular required knowledge of economics or statistics — fully reflect the path of realized inflation rate in median but they are "biased" in mean during periods of structural changes in the process of prices' growth. This result seems to confirm what has been found in the experimental psychological literature (see Peterson and Miller, 1964).

In this section we reviewed some of the relevant existing literature in econometrics where subjective expectations are used. In this review we have certainly noticed that, although subjective data are used, there has not been a development of tools to recover subjective distributions over uncertainty quantities of interest. The only exception is Dominitz and Manski (1997), but has we already pointed out in this paper a restrictive assumption on the family of distribution to which the expected income belongs is made. Dominitz and Manski (1997) is an important contribution, but more sophisticated techniques are needed.

6.2 Evaluating elicited expectations

Once we have elicited expectations or other forms of probabilistic judgements we need to assess the quality of our analysis. Often we read wording like "accuracy of expectations", "bias of expectations", "correctness of expectations", and other expressions like these. In our view this is an improper wording if we refer to expectations that peoples hold in their mind. Suppose I observe the price for apples today, say it is 1 euros per kilogram, suppose one ask to me "what price do you expect for apples tomorrow?", and suppose my answer is 1.1 Euros per kilogram. Now, suppose that the next day we go on the fruit market and the price of apples is 1.15 Euros. An economist would say that I made a "mistake" which can be measured by the forecast error, which is -5 cents of euro, he would also argue that by rational expectation hypothesis, if we repeat this experiment an huge number of time, this error should be equal to 0 on average.

Why are we talking about an error? There are several reasons why we should not talk about errors, we give for instance an extreme one. Suppose we are willing to make the extremely unrealistic assumption that a data generating process of prices can be identified, and that I have a proper subjective probability distribution over this data generating process. It could be that from the time I made my statement about expected prices to the time in which the new price is formed in the next period, something in the information set, on which I conditioned my stated expectation, has changed. This is almost always the case in economics. We measure economics variables at discrete time interval and we make probabilistic judgements on information acquired at discrete time intervals, but economic phenomena occurs in continuous time, so that the information we would like to observe changes continuously over time.

In this sense even in a world of extremely smart people who are able to recover the data generating process of apples' price, if prices are measured at discrete time intervals, and if their expectation stated at time t about apples' price at time t + 1 is different from the true apple price we pay at time t + 1, we cannot say that a forecast error has been made. To say that a forecast error has been made, we should be sure that nothing has changed in the available information between the time when we stated our expectation and the time when the new price is available. We should agree that such an assumption would be unrealistic and impossible to assess.

So we do not agree with the wording which is common amongst economists. We believe that at most we could talk about "coherence" of probabilistic judgements. The concept of coherence that here is inspired to De Finetti. As we pointed out before, we do not believe in that "it is important what people do, not what people think", instead we believe that it is important to assess whether what people think is coherent with what they do. If what people do is coherent with the probabilistic judgement they made, we can use this judgement to predict future behaviours. Suppose we have an urn containing blue and red balls, we know the proportion of the two kind of balls, suppose we attach a lottery to the urn, that is, if a red ball is drawn then nothing is payed, if a blue ball is drawn 5 euros are payed. There are many players, we can decide if we want to participate to the lottery or not, if we decide to participate then we pay 2 Euros we draw the ball and we get 5 Euros if the result is a blu ball, otherwise we can pass to the next player and will never partecipate to the game. Suppose that it is my turn, suppose that before I state whether I want play or pass, someone ask to me which is the probability that I would attach to the event that a blu ball is extracted in the next drawn. Suppose I say "2%" and next I am asked if I want to play or not, and I say that I want to play. In this case I would say that I am not coherent because my probabilistic statement implies that I expect to lose roughly 2 Euros and still I want to play the game. When we talk about coherence this is what we mean.

Now we will review some of the econometric analysis that has been made about the evaluation of elicited probabilistic judgement. Again, we will try to avoid confusing words as much as we can.

One thing that econometricians do is to simply compare individual expectations with realizations data. Dominitz (1998) used a one year follow-up to a preliminary 1993 version of SEE to evaluate the accuracy of respondents expectations about weekly earnings. He assumed that people hold a subjective distribution for earnings which is continuous and that realizations are cross-sectionally independent. He estimated the empirical distribution of expectations and the empirical distribution of realized data, and then he measured the distance between the two distribution by comparing quantiles. Applying this criterion, he found that expectations and realizations did not match entirely. Dominitz (1998) found that expectations were "too optimistic" (said the author), in the sense that central tendency of expectations exceeds central tendency of realizations, and "too confident", i.e., spread of realizations exceeds spread perceived by respondents.

We should notice that this kind comparisons need panel data, in fact we need to estimate the empirical distribution of expectations at each period (cross-section estimate), and then we need to compare — following some statistical criterion — this distribution with the estimated empirical distribution of realized data in the next period (longitudinal comparison).

Furthermore, the idea behind this procedure is that we should find in the

data what peoples expect, the problem of this philosophy is that realized data can be determined by other factors that are not under the control of respondents, so that realized data will not reflect peoples' action based on their expectations.

Another procedure used in literature has been the comparison of mean expectations and mean realizations. Domintz and Manski (1997) used this approach to evaluate the one-year-ahead expectations from SEE in 1994, they compared expectations with the realizations reported by the new sample of respondents interviewed in 1995, simply comparing means of expectations and realizations. All SEE respondents were asked to elicit expectations of health insurance coverage, crime victimization, and the job-loss questions (see SEE codbook pag. 3-5), the comparison showed that mean expectations and realizations of health insurance match up closely.

The last procedure we explore is the comparison of mean expectations with historical realizations. This methods assume that successive cohorts of persons have the same distribution of realizations for a given variable of interest. Under this assumption the previous method of comparing mean of expectations and realized data, it is applied comparing expectations and realized data of different cohorts. This is needed when the researcher wants to apply the method described before, but she or he does not have measured data on realizations for each period for each individual. Fischhoff et al. (2000) conducted a study on a numbers of life events eliciting expectations in different cohorts, then they compared mean of expectations with historical realized data on different cohorts. They concluded that the result of comparison largely depends on the expectations of teens, over the years the distribution of teens' expectations change sensibly and comparison with historical realized data on different cohorts is misleading.

Our opinion is that comparison is that when we compare expectations data with realizations, we should be careful in our conclusion. For the kind of variables involved in the cited studies, even if peoples' actions are coherent with their expectations, realized data not only depend on peoples' action but they also depend on a number of factors out of peoples' control. Suppose we collected data on expected future earnings and then we want to compare expected earnings with realized earnings. Suppose that after we measured expectations, and before we measure realized earnings, a new unexpected law has passed which changes the discipline of labor contracts. Suppose we compare expectations with realized data, then —using the wording popular among economists— could we conclude that peoples' do not have "accurate expectations"? We think that we cannot conclude that peoples' have "inaccurate expectations", simply we cannot make any comparison.

Another comment is that comparison based on summary of distributions, and especially the mean, is not reasonable. First of all a distribution is not only characterized by central tendency, and moreover we have already seen that from experimental psychological literature it results that probabilistic judgement is biased in mean.

7 Conclusions

In this short chapter we tried to give an overview of the problem of eliciting probability distributions. The starting point has been the need of less unrealistic modelling in econometrics as pointed out in Manski (2004) (amongst the others). In fact, in econometrics very often modelling considers unobservable expectations amongst independent variable. Trying to estimate this models implies that to achieve fully identification of the joint probability of the response, econometricians have to make unclear and unrealistic assumptions. In the last few years there has been an increasing interest by econometrician in eliciting probability distribution in order to estimate expectations. We also described researches on elicitation in psychology and bayesian statistic where these kind of works started many years ago.

Although there has been a tremendous effort by econometricians in this direction of the research, we think that the methods employed are not fully satisfying. Econometricians still think that people have in mind some model which correspond to a probability distribution on uncertain outcomes. Our

approach will be more unpretentious than this, in fact, we think that an individual could be even not able to assign a probability distribution on uncertainty outcomes; and even in this case we will not say that those individuals are "not rational". Assigning probability to uncertain outcomes can be very hard even in experiment involving two or three outcomes. On these basis, we believe any elicitated probability distribution is false, in the sense that it cannot represent to true uncertainty which people have in mind. Our effort will be devoted to set up reasonable methodology and statistical tools in order to represent this uncertainty as close as possible to that perceived by peoples. We see the need of bayesian methods in this field because of the necessity to fully express the starting uncertainty via priors probability and then to revise this uncertainty trough posteriors.

In our future work our basis will be the evidence collected up this moment. Evidence suggests that people are better to express their opinions in terms of quantiles and other summaries, rather than to perform judgements in terms of probabilities. The experimental psychological literature showed that people are not able to perform probabilistic judgement when the situation becomes complex and the number of variables increases. For this reason we do not think that multivariate elicitation is achievable, so that we will try to develop methods that reduce multivariate elicitation to univariate where possible.

At this stage we do not have a clear idea of what we are going to do. What is clear is the object of our research. We will try to set up a method of elicitation in which expectations of a random quantity X will be computed taking the expectation of the predictive distribution over X where this predictive distribution will be computed starting from an elicitated prior and then getting the posterior given realized data on X and data on expectations about X. We think that with this framework we will add knowledge to what have been done. We can express peoples' uncertainty on X trough their elicited prior, the revision process through the posterior will give us knowledge on the updating process of information, also we will combine past data with new data on expectations and we will take into account peoples' heterogeneity allowing prior uncertainty to vary among them.

As we said so far this is a rough draft. Before to apply any methods

to real data we need to follow a number of steps. We need to elaborate appropiate methods of priors elicitation suited for our problem, eventually we need to test this method trough an experimental session. Then we want to develop the statistical tools needed, and finally we will apply this techniques to some real world datasets.

References

- Campbell, J. and A. Deaton (1989). Why is consumption so smooth? *Review of Economic Studies 56*, 357–374.
- Dominitz, J. (1998). Earnings expectations, revisions, and realizations. *Review of Economics and Statistics 80*, 374–388.
- Dominitz, J. (2001). Estimation of income expectations models using expectations and realization data. *Journal of Econometrics* 102, 165–195.
- Dominitz, J. and C. F. Manski (1997). Using expectations data to study subjective income expectations. *Journal of the American Statistical Association 92*, 855–867.
- Domintz, J. and C. F. Manski (1997). Perceptions of economic insecurity: Evidence from the survey of economic expectations. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 261–287.
- Domintz, J. and C. F. Manski (2003). How should we measure consumer confidence (sentiment)? evidence from the michigan survey of consumers. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 9926*.
- Domintz, J. and C. F. Manski (2004). How should we measure consumer confidence? *Journal of Economic Perspectives 18*.
- Edwards, W. and L. D. Phillips (1964). *Man as transducer for probabilities in Bayesian command and control systems. Human Judgements and Optimality.* New York: Wiley.
- Fischhoff, B. and R. Beyth (1975). I knew it would happen–remembered probabilities of once–future things. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance 13*, 1–16.
- Fischhoff, B., A. Parker, W. B. D. Bruin, J.Downs, C.Palmgren, R.Dawes, and C. F. Manski (2000). Teen expectations for significant life events. *Public Opinion Quarterly 64*, 189–205.

- Friedman, M. (1957). *A Theory of the Consumption Function*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Garthwaite, P. H. and J. M. Dickey (1991). An elicitation method for multiple linear regression models. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making 4*, 17–31.
- Garthwaite, P. H., J. B. Kadane, and A. O'Hagan (2004). Elicitation. Forthcoming on Journal of American Statistical Society.
- Hall, R. E. (1978, December). Stochastic implications of the life cyclepermanent income hypothesis: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Political Economy 86*, 971–87.
- Hammerton, M. (1975, 2). A case of radical probability estimation. *Journal* of *Experimental Psychology* 101, 242–254.
- Hogarth, R. M. (1987). *Judgement and Choice* (2nd ed.). Chichester: John Wiley.
- Holstein, C. A. S. (1971). An experiment in probabilistic weather forecasting. *Journal of Applied Meteorology* 10(635–645).
- Jappelli, T. and L. Pistaferri (2000, 2). Using subjective income expectations to test for excess sensitivity of consumption to predicted income growth. *European Economic Review* 44(2), 337–358.
- Kadane, J. B., J. Dickey, R. Winkler, W. Smith, and S. Peters (1980). Interactive elicitation of opinion for a normal linear model. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 75, 845–854.
- Kahneman, D. and A. Tversky (1973). On the psychology of prediction. *Psychological Review 80*(4), 237–251.
- Lindley, D. V., A. Tversky, and R. V. Brown (1979). On the reconciliation of probability assessments. *Journal Royal Statistical Society, A 142*, 146– 180.
- Lucas, R. E. and N. Stockey (1989). *Recursive Methods in Economics*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. with Ed. Prescott.
- Manski, C. F. (2004, Sep.). Measuring expectations. *Econometrica* 72(5), 1329–1376.
- McFadden, D. (1974). Conditional Logit Analysis of Qualitative Choice Behavior. Frontiers in Econometrics. New York: Academic Press.
- McFadden, D. (2004). Revealed stochastic preference: A synthesis. Downloadable at http://emlab.berkeley.edu/users/mcfadden/.

- Mehra, Y. P. (2002). Survey measures of expected inflation: Revisiting the issues of predictive content and rationality. *Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond Economic Quarterly 88*(3), 18–36.
- Nisbett, R. E., E. Borgida, R. Crandall, and H. Reed (1976). *Popular induction: information is not necessarily informative. Cognition and Social Behaviour.* Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Oakley, J. E. and A. O'Hagan (2002). Uncertainty in prior elicitations: a nonparametric approach. Department of Probability and Statistics, Research Report No. 521/02, University of Sheffield.
- Oman, S. D. (1985). Specifying a prior distribution in structured regression problems. *Journal of the American Statistical Association 80*, 190–195.
- Peterson, C. R. and A. Miller (1964). Mode, median and mean as optimal strategies. *Journal of Experimental Psychology* 68, 363–367.
- Samuelson, P. (1938). A note on the pure theory of consumer behavior. *Economica 5*, 61–71.
- Samuelson, P. (1948). Consumption theory in terms of revealed preferences. *Economica* 15, 243–253.
- Savage, L. (1954). The Foundations of Statistics. New York: Wiley.
- Schaefer, R. E. and k. Borcherding (1973). The assessment of subjective probability distributions: a training experiment. *Acta Psychologics* 37, 117–129.
- Shuford, E. H. (1961). Percentage estimation of proportion as a function of element type, exposure type, and task. *Journal of Experimental Psychology* 61, 430–436.
- Slovic, P. (1972). From shakespeare to simon: speculations and some evidence — about man's ability to process information. Oregon Research Institute Monograph 12(2).
- Thomas, L. B. (1999). Survey measures of expected u.s. inflation. *Journal* of *Economic Perspectives* 13, 125144.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman (1971). The belief in the law of small numbers. *Psychological Bulletin 76*, 105–110.
- Wallsten, T. S., D. V. Budescu, A. Rapoport, R. Zwick, and R. Forsyth (1986). Measuring vague meanings of probability terms. *Journal of Experimental Psychology* 115, 348–365.
- Winkler, R. L. (1967). The assessment of prior distributions in bayesian

analysis. Journal of the American Statistical Association 62, 776-800.

Winkler, R. L. (1972). *Introduction to Bayesian Inference and Decision*. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.

Zellner, A. (1972). On assessing informative prior distributions for regression coefficients. Unpublished.

Dipartimento di Scienze Economiche e Statistiche Università degli Studi di Salerno Depositato ai sensi di legge

WORKING PAPERS DEL DIPARTIMENTO

1988, 3.1	Guido CELLA Linkages e moltiplicatori input-output.
1989, 3.2	Marco MUSELLA La moneta nei modelli di inflazione da conflitto.
1989, 3.3	Floro E. CAROLEO Le cause economiche nei differenziali regionali del tasso di disoccupazione.
1989, 3.4	Luigi ACCARINO Attualità delle illusioni finanziarie nella moderna società.
1989, 3.5	Sergio CESARATTO La misurazione delle risorse e dei risultati delle attività innovative: una valu- tazione dei risultati dell'indagine CNR- ISTAT sull'innovazione tecnologica.
1990, 3.6	Luigi ESPOSITO - Pasquale PERSICO Sviluppo tecnologico ed occupazionale: il caso Italia negli anni '80.
1990, 3.7	Guido CELLA Matrici di contabilità sociale ed analisi ambientale.
1990, 3.8	Guido CELLA Linkages e input-output: una nota su alcune recenti critiche.
1990, 3.9	Concetto Paolo VINCI I modelli econometrici sul mercato del lavoro in Italia.
1990, 3.10	Concetto Paolo VINCI Il dibattito sul tasso di partecipazione in Italia: una rivisitazione a 20 anni di distanza.
1990, 3.11	Giuseppina AUTIERO Limiti della coerenza interna ai modelli con la R.E.H
1990, 3.12	Gaetano Fausto ESPOSITO Evoluzione nei distretti industriali e domanda di istituzione.
1990, 3.13	Guido CELLA Measuring spatial linkages: input-output and shadow prices.
1990, 3.14	Emanuele SALSANO Seminari di economia.

1990, 3.15	Emanuele SALSANO Investimenti, valore aggiunto e occupazione in Italia in contesto biregionale: una prima analisi dei dati 1970/1982.
1990, 3.16	Alessandro PETRETTO- Giuseppe PISAURO Uniformità vs selettività nella teoria della ottima tassazione e dei sistemi tributari ottimali.
1990, 3.17	Adalgiso AMENDOLA Inflazione, disoccupazione e aspettative. Aspetti teorici dell'introduzione di aspettative endogene nel dibattito sulla curva di Phillips.
1990, 3.18	Pasquale PERSICO Il Mezzogiorno e le politiche di sviluppo industriale.
1990, 3.19	Pasquale PERSICO Priorità delle politiche strutturali e strategie di intervento.
1990, 3.20	Adriana BARONE - Concetto Paolo VINCI La produttività nella curva di Phillips.
1990, 3.21	Emiddio GALLO Varianze ed invarianze socio-spaziali nella transizione demografica dell'Ita- lia post-industriale.
1991, 3.22	Alfonso GAMBARDELLA I gruppi etnici in Nicaragua. Autonomia politica ed economica.
1991, 3.23	Maria SCATTAGLIA La stima empirica dell'offerta di lavoro in Italia: una rassegna.
1991, 3.24	Giuseppe CELI La teoria delle aree valutarie: una rassegna.
1991, 3.25	Paola ADINOLFI Relazioni industriali e gestione delle risorse umane nelle imprese italiane.
1991, 3.26	Antonio e Bruno PELOSI Sviluppo locale ed occupazione giovanile: nuovi bisogni formativi.
1991, 3.27	Giuseppe MARIGLIANO La formazione del prezzo nel settore dell'intermediazione commerciale.
1991, 3.28	Maria PROTO Risorse naturali, merci e ambiente: il caso dello zolfo.
1991, 3.29	Salvatore GIORDANO Ricerca sullo stato dei servizi nelle industrie del salernitano.

1992, 3.30	Antonio LOPES Crisi debitoria e politiche macroeconomiche nei paesi in via di sviluppo negli anni 80.
1992, 3.31	Antonio VASSILLO Circuiti economici semplici, complessi, ed integrati.
1992, 3.32	Gaetano Fausto ESPOSITO Imprese ed istituzioni nel Mezzogiorno: spunti analitici e modalità di relazio- ne.
1992, 3.33	Paolo COCCORESE Un modello per l'analisi del sistema pensionistico.
1994, 3.34	Aurelio IORI Il comparto dei succhi di agrumi: un caso di analisi interorganizzativa.
1994, 3.35	Nicola POSTIGLIONE Analisi multicriterio e scelte pubbliche.
1994, 3.36	Adriana BARONE Cooperazione nel dilemma del prigioniero ripetuto e disoccupazione invo- lontaria.
1994, 3.37	Adriana BARONE Le istituzioni come regolarità di comportamento.
1994, 3.38	Maria Giuseppina LUCIA Lo sfruttamento degli idrocarburi offshore tra sviluppo economico e tutela dell'ambiente.
1994, 3.39	Giuseppina AUTIERO Un'analisi di alcuni dei limiti strutturali alle politiche di stabilizzazione nei LCDs.
1994, 3.40	Bruna BRUNO Modelli di contrattazione salariale e ruolo del sindacato.
1994, 3.41	Giuseppe CELI Cambi reali e commercio estero: una riflessione sulle recenti interpretazioni teoriche.
1995, 3.42	Alessandra AMENDOLA, M. Simona ANDREANO The TAR models: an application on italian financial time series.
1995, 3.43	Leopoldo VARRIALE Ambiente e turismo: Parco dell'Iguazù - Argentina.

1995, 3.44	A. PELOSI, R. LOMBARDI Fondi pensione: equilibrio economico-finanziario delle imprese.
1995, 3.45	Emanuele SALSANO, Domenico IANNONE Economia e struttura produttiva nel salernitano dal secondo dopoguerra ad oggi.
1995, 3.46	Michele LA ROCCA Empirical likelihood and linear combinations of functions of order statistics.
1995, 3.47	Michele LA ROCCA L'uso del bootstrap nella verosimiglianza empirica.
1996, 3.48	Domenico RANESI Le politiche CEE per lo sviluppo dei sistemi locali: esame delle diverse tipo- logie di intervento e tentativo di specificazione tassonomica.
1996, 3.49	Michele LA ROCCA L'uso della verosimiglianza empirica per il confronto di due parametri di po- sizione.
1996, 3.50	Massimo SPAGNOLO La domanda dei prodotti della pesca in Italia.
1996, 3.51	Cesare IMBRIANI, Filippo REGANATI Macroeconomic stability and economic integration. The case of Italy.
1996, 3.52	Annarita GERMANI Gli effetti della mobilizzazione della riserva obbligatoria. Analisi sull'efficienza del suo utilizzo.
1996, 3.53	Massimo SPAGNOLO A model of fish price formation in the north sea and the Mediterranean.
1996, 3.54	Fernanda MAZZOTTA RTFL: problemi e soluzioni per i dati Panel.
1996, 3.55	Angela SPAGNUOLO Concentrazione industriale e dimensione del mercato: il ruolo della spesa per pubblicità e R&D.
1996, 3.56	Giuseppina AUTIERO The economic case for social norms.
1996, 3.57	Francesco GIORDANO Sulla convergenza degli stimatori Kernel.
1996, 3.58	Tullio JAPPELLI, Marco PAGANO The determinants of saving: lessons from Italy.

1997, 3.59	Tullio JAPPELLI The age-wealth profile and the life-cycle hypothesis: a cohort analysis with a time series of cross sections of Italian households.
1997, 3.60	Marco Antonio MONACO La gestione dei servizi di pubblico interesse.
1997, 3.61	Marcella ANZOLIN L'albero della qualità dei servizi pubblici locali in Italia: metodologie e risulta- ti conseguiti.
1997, 3.62	Cesare IMBRIANI, Antonio LOPES Intermediazione finanziaria e sistema produttivo in un'area dualistica. Uno studio di caso.
1997, 3.63	Tullio JAPPELLI Risparmio e liberalizzazione finanziaria nell'Unione europea.
1997, 3.64	Alessandra AMENDOLA Analisi dei dati di sopravvivenza.
1997, 3.65	Francesco GIORDANO, Cira PERNA Gli stimatori Kernel per la stima non parametrica della funzione di regres- sione.
1997, 3.66	 Biagio DI SALVIA Le relazioni marittimo-commerciali nell'imperiale regio litorale austriaco nella prima metà dell'800. I. Una riclassificazione delle Tafeln zur Statistik der Öesterreichischen Monarchie.
1997, 3.67	Alessandra AMENDOLA Modelli non lineari di seconda e terza generazione: aspetti teorici ed evi- denze empiriche.
1998, 3.68	Vania SENA L'analisi econometrica dell'efficienza tecnica. Un'applicazione agli ospedali italiani di zona.
1998, 3.69	Domenico CERBONE Investimenti irreversibili.
1998, 3.70	Antonio GAROFALO La riduzione dell'orario di lavoro è una soluzione al problema disoccupazio- ne: un tentativo di analisi empirica.
1998, 3.71	Jacqueline MORGAN, Roberto RAUCCI New convergence results for Nash equilibria.

1998, 3.72	Rosa FERRENTINO Niels Henrik Abel e le equazioni algebriche.
1998, 3.73	Marco MICOCCI, Rosa FERRENTINO Un approccio markoviano al problema della valutazione delle opzioni.
1998, 3.74	Rosa FERRENTINO, Ciro CALABRESE Rango di una matrice di dimensione K.
1999, 3.75	Patrizia RIGANTI L'uso della valutazione contingente per la gestione del patrimonio culturale: limiti e potenzialità.
1999, 3.76	Annamaria NESE Il problema dell'inefficienza nel settore dei musei: tecniche di valutazione.
1999, 3.77	Gianluigi COPPOLA Disoccupazione e mercato del lavoro: un'analisi su dati provinciali.
1999, 3.78	Alessandra AMENDOLA Un modello soglia con eteroschedasticità condizionata per tassi di cambio.
1999, 3.79	Rosa FERRENTINO Su un'applicazione della trasformata di Laplace al calcolo della funzione asintotica di non rovina.
1999, 3.80	Rosa FERRENTINO Un'applicazione della trasformata di Laplace nel caso di una distribuzione di Erlang.
1999, 3.81	Angela SPAGNUOLO Efficienza e struttura degli incentivi nell'azienda pubblica: il caso dell'industria sanitaria.
1999, 3.82	Antonio GAROFALO, Cesare IMBRIANI, Concetto Paolo VINCI Youth unemployment: an insider-outsider dynamic approach.
1999, 3.83	Rosa FERRENTINO Un modello per la determinazione del tasso di riequilibrio in un progetto di fusione tra banche.
1999, 3.84	DE STEFANIS, PORZIO Assessing models in frontier analysis through dynamic graphics.
1999, 3.85	Annunziato GESUALDI Inflazione e analisi delle politiche fiscali nell'U.E
1999, 3.86	R. RAUCCI, L. TADDEO Dalle equazioni differenziali alle funzioni e ^x , logx, a ^x , log _a x, x ^α .

1999, 3.87	Rosa FERRENTINO Sulla determinazione di numeri aleatori generati da equazioni algebriche.
1999, 3.88	C. PALMISANI, R. RAUCCI Sulle funzioni circolari: una presentazione non classica.
2000, 3.89	Giuseppe STORTI, Pierluigi FURCOLO, Paolo VILLANI A dynamic generalized linear model for precipitation forecasting.
2000, 3.90	Rosa FERRENTINO Un procedimento risolutivo per l'equazione di Dickson.
2000, 3.91	Rosa FERRENTINO Un'applicazione della mistura di esponenziali alla teoria del rischio.
2000, 3.92	Francesco GIORDANO, Michele LA ROCCA, Cira PERNA Bootstrap variance estimates for neural networks regression models.
2000, 3.93	Alessandra AMENDOLA, Giuseppe STORTI A non-linear time series approach to modelling asymmetry in stock market indexes.
2000, 3.94	Rosa FERRENTINO Sopra un'osservazione di De Vylder.
2000, 3.95	Massimo SALZANO Reti neurali ed efficacia dell'intervento pubblico: previsioni dell'inquinamento da traffico nell'area di Villa S. Giovanni.
2000, 3.96	Angela SPAGNUOLO Concorrenza e deregolamentazione nel mercato del trasporto aereo in Italia.
2000, 3.97	Roberto RAUCCI, Luigi TADDEO <i>Teoremi ingannevoli.</i>
2000, 3.98	Francesco GIORDANO Una procedura per l'inizializzazione dei pesi delle reti neurali per l'analisi del trend.
2001, 3.99	Angela D'ELIA Some methodological issues on multivariate modelling of rank data.
2001, 3.100	Roberto RAUCCI, Luigi TADDEO Nuove classi di funzioni scalari quasiconcave generalizzate: caratterizzazio- ni ed applicazioni a problemi di ottimizzazione.
2001, 3.101	Adriana BARONE, Annamaria NESE Some insights into night work in Italy.
2001, 3.102	Alessandra AMENDOLA, Marcella NIGLIO

Predictive distributions of nonlinear time series models.

2001, 3.103	Roberto RAUCCI Sul concetto di certo equivalente nella teoria HSSB.
2001, 3.104	Roberto RAUCCI, Luigi TADDEO On stackelberg games: a result of unicity.
2001, 3.105	Roberto RAUCCI Una definizione generale e flessibile di insieme limitato superiormente in $ {\mathfrak R}^n$
2001, 3.106	Roberto RAUCCI Stretta quasiconcavità nelle forme funzionali flessibili.
2001, 3.107	Roberto RAUCCI Sugli insiemi limitati in ೫ ^m rispetto ai coni.
2001, 3.108	Roberto RAUCCI Monotonie, isotonie e indecomponibilità deboli per funzioni a valori vettoriali con applicazioni.
2001, 3.109	Roberto RAUCCI Generalizzazioni del concetto di debole Kuhn-Tucker punto-sella.
2001, 3.110	Antonia Rosa GURRIERI, Marilene LORIZIO Le determinanti dell'efficienza nel settore sanitario. Uno studio applicato.
2001, 3.111	Gianluigi COPPOLA Studio di una provincia meridionale attraverso un'analisi dei sistemi locali del lavoro. Il caso di Salerno.
2001, 3.112	Francesco GIORDANO Reti neurali per l'analisi del trend: un approccio per identificare la topologia della rete.
2001, 3.113	Marcella NIGLIO Nonlinear time series models with switching structure: a comparison of their forecast performances.
2001, 3.114	Damiano FIORILLO Capitale sociale e crescita economica. Review dei concetti e dell'evidenza empirica.
2001, 3.115	Roberto RAUCCI, Luigi TADDEO Generalizzazione del concetto di continuità e di derivabilità.
2001, 3.116	Marcella NIGLIO Ricostruzione dei dati mancanti in serie storiche climatiche.

2001, 3.117	Vincenzo VECCHIONE Mutamenti del sistema creditizio in un'area periferica.
2002, 3.118	Francesco GIORDANO, Michele LA ROCCA, Cira PERNA Bootstrap variable selection in neural network regression models.
2002, 3.119	Roberto RAUCCI, Luigi TADDEO Insiemi debolmente convessi e concavità in senso generale.
2002, 3.120	Vincenzo VECCHIONE Know how locali e percorsi di sviluppo in aree e settori marginali.
2002, 3.121	Michele LA ROCCA, Cira PERNA Neural networks with dependent data.
2002, 3.122	Pietro SENESI Economic dynamics: theory and policy. A stability analysis approach.
2002, 3.123	Gianluigi COPPOLA Stima di un indicatore di pressione ambientale: un'applicazione ai comuni della Campania.
2002, 3.124	Roberto RAUCCI Sull'esistenza di autovalori e autovettori positivi anche nel caso non lineare.
2002, 3.125	Maria Carmela MICCOLI Identikit di giovani lucani.
2002, 3.126	Sergio DESTEFANIS, Giuseppe STORTI Convexity, productivity change and the economic performance of countries.
2002, 3.127	Giovanni C. PORZIO, Maria Prosperina VITALE Esplorare la non linearità nei modelli Path.
2002, 3.128	Rosa FERRENTINO Sulla funzione di Seal.
2003, 3.129	Michele LA ROCCA, Cira PERNA Identificazione del livello intermedio nelle reti neurali di tipo feedforward.
2003, 3.130	Alessandra AMENDOLA, Marcella NIGLIO, Cosimo VITALE The exact multi-step ahead predictor of SETARMA models.
2003, 3.131	Mariangela BONASIA La dimensione ottimale di un sistema pensionistico: means tested vs pro- gramma universale.
2003, 3.132	Annamaria NESE Abitazione e famiglie a basso reddito.

2003, 3.133	Maria Lucia PARRELLA Le proprietà asintotiche del Local Polynomial Bootstrap.
2003, 3.134	Silvio GIOVE, Maurizio NORDIO, Stefano SILVONI Stima della prevalenza dell'insufficienza renale cronica con reti bayesiane: analisi costo efficacia delle strategie di prevenzione secondaria.
2003, 3.135	Massimo SALZANO Globalization, complexity and the holism of the italian school of public fi- nance.
2003, 3.136	Giuseppina AUTIERO Labour market institutional sistems and unemplyment performance in some Oecd countries.
2003, 3.137	Marisa FAGGINI Recurrence analysis for detecting non-stationarity and chaos in economic times series.
2003, 3.138	Marisa FAGGINI, Massimo SALZANO The reverse engineering of economic systems. Tools and methodology.
2003, 3.139	Rosa FERRENTINO In corso di pubblicazione.
2003, 3.140	Rosa FERRENTINO, Roberto RAUCCI Sui problemi di ottimizzazione in giochi di Stackelberg ed applicazioni in modelli economici.
2003, 3.141	Carmine SICA In corso di pubblicazione.
2004, 3.142	Sergio DESTEFANIS, Antonella TADDEO, Maurizio TORNATORE The stock of human capital in the Italian regions.
2004, 3.143	Elena Laureana DEL MERCATO Edgeworth equilibria with private provision of public good.
2004, 3.144	Elena Laureana DEL MERCATO Externalities on consumption sets in general equilibrium.
2004, 3.145	Rosa FERRENTINO, Roberto RAUCCI Su alcuni criteri delle serie a termini non negativi.
2004, 3.146	Rosa FERRENTINO, Roberto RAUCCI Legame tra le soluzioni di Minty e di Stempacenhia nelle disequazioni varia- zionali.

2004, 3.147	Gianluigi COPPOLA In corso di pubblicazione.
2004, 3.148	Massimo Spagnolo The Importance of Economic Incentives in Fisheries Management
2004, 3.149	F. Salsano La politica monetaria in presenza di non perfetta osservabilità degli obiettivi del banchiere centrale.
2004, 3.150	A. Vita La dinamica del cambiamento nella rappresentazione del territorio. Una mappa per i luoghi della Valle dell'Irno.
2004, 3.151	Celi Empirical Explanation of vertical and horizontal intra-industry trade in the UK: a comment.
2004, 3.152	Amendola – P. Vitale Self-Assessment and Career Choices: An On-line resource for the Univer- sity of Salerno.
2004, 3.153	A. Amendola – R. Troisi Introduzione all'economia politica dell'organizzazione: nozioni ed applicazio- ni.
2004, 3.154	A. Amendola – R. Troisi Strumenti d'incentivo e modelli di gestione del personale volontario nelle organizzazioni non profit.
2004, 3.155	Lavinia Parisi La gestione del personale nelle imprese manifatturiere della provincia di Salerno.
2004, 3.156	Angela Spagnuolo – Silvia Keller La rete di accesso all'ultimo miglio: una valutazione sulle tecnologie alterna- tive.
2005, 3.157	Davide Cantarelli Elasticities of Complementarity and Substitution in Some Functional Forms. A Comparative Review.